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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS
CENTRAL DIVISION

NICHOLE PLANTS, et al. PLAINTIFFS
V. Case No. 4:18-cv-00432-K GB
U.S.PIZZA COMPANY, INC. DEFENDANT

OPINION AND ORDER

Before the Court i& motion for partiasummary judgment filed by defendant U.S. Pizza
Company, Inc. (“U.S. Pizza”) (Dkt. No. 28Plaintiffs filed an unopposed motion for extension
of time to file a response to U.S. Pizza’s motion (Dkt. No. 3he Court grants plaintiffs’ motion
and consides plaintiffs’ responseimely filed (Dkt. Nos. 32, 33). For the following reasons, the
Court grants, in part, ardknies in part,U.S. Pizza’s motion for partial summary judgment (Dkt.
No. 28).

l. Factual Background

Plaintiffsin this action ar&9 individuals who worked as servers at 10 different U.S. Pizza
locations (Dkt. No. 28, 1 1). Plaintiftging this action pursuant to the Fair Labor Standards Act
(“FLSA"), 29 U.S.C. § 20]et seq.and the Arkansas Minimum Wage Act (“AMWA”), Arkansas
Code Annotated 8§ 14-201,et seq(Dkt. No. 23, 11 %). Plaintiffsclaim that they spent more
than 20% of their time performing naipped duties for U.S. Pizza, assert that U.S. Pizza was
required to pay plaintiffs and its otheervers at least minimum wage for that tiraed sue for
wages owed from that tim(@d., T 3). Plaintiffsseek a declaratory judgment; monetary damages;
liquidated damages; prejudgment interest; and civil penalties and costglingcteasonable
attorngys’ fees, within the applicable statutory limitations period as a result of 2Z&'$alleged

failure to pay minimum wages under the FLSA and the AMWA (] 7).

Dockets.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/arkansas/aredce/4:2018cv00432/112566/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/arkansas/aredce/4:2018cv00432/112566/39/
https://dockets.justia.com/

On August 12, 2016, two former U.S. Pizza employees filed a lavapiiioned_atcham,
etal. v. U.S. Pizza, IndNo. 4:16cv-00582BSM, on behalf of themselvemnd all others similarly
situated claiming that U.S. Pizz41) operated an illegal tip pool and (2) violated the wage and
hour laws related to side work under both the FLSA and the AMWA (Dkt. No. 32, ThB.
named plaintiffs inLatchamsuccessfully sought initial certification of a coligetaction under
the AL.SA, and 78 individuals subsequently filed consents to join the conditiecetlified
collective under the FLSAhough not all of those 78 individuals had worked as servers for U.S.
Pizza within the last two yeafil., T 2-3). In an Order dated June 28, 20W8jted States District
Judge Brian S. Miller granted collectivede summary judgment on plaintiffs’ illegal tip pool
claim and found it undisputed that U.S. Pizza servers keep all tips they receive riieim di
customersl@., 1 4). Judge Mille also decertified the collective actiontaglaintiffs’ remaining
side work claim, dismissing without prejudice the 78 opt-in plaintiffs and ledwirtgal just the
individual side work claims of the two named plaintiffd.(§ 5). In decertifying the collective
action, Judge Miller denied plaintiffs’ request for adiy tolling period of the ogn plaintiffs’
statutes of limitations (Id., { 6). Plaintiffs assert that the requesteddy tolling period was
specifically a postecertification tolling period intended to toll the limitations period from the
time theLatchamcase was decertified and the filing of this cddg.(

On June 29, 201883ormerLatchamoptdin plaintiffs filed their original complaint in this
action refiling their side work claims against U.S. Pizzal requestingpplicabletolling (Dkt.
Nos. 1; 32, § 11).Plaintiffs complaint states that strict application of the statute of #itiwihs
would be inequitablethateach plaintiff brought his or her claim for unpaid minimum wages in
the Latchamlitigation by filing a consent to join that suénd that eacplaintiff's claims should

be tolled as of the date he or she filed his or her consent to jdiattieamlitigation (Dkt. Nos.



1, 11 104106 23, 11 108110; 32, 1 1). U.S. Pizza alleges that 27 of these plaintiffigl not file
timely consents ir.atchamand provides a table listing the last day worked at U.S. Pizza, the
alleged start of the twgear limitations period, and the allegemtchamconsent file date for those
27 employees (Dkt. No. 30, 1 13). Plaintiffs deny that these 27 employees dik rimhdiy
consents in.atchamand maintain that they are entitled to the opportunity to produce evidence of
a threeyear limitations period for claims under the FLSA as well as a-feaelimitations period
for claims under the AMWADKt. No. 32, § 13).

. Legal Standard

Summary judgment is proper if there is no genuine issue of material fact for trial.
UnitedHealth Grougnc. v. Executive Risk Specialty Ins. C870 F.3d 856, 861 (8th Cir. 2017)
(citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 56). Summary judgment is proper if the evidence, wherdviethe light
most favorable to the nonmoving party, shows that there is no genuine issue of rfzatesiadl
that the defendant is tithed to entry of judgment as a matter of la@elotex Corp. v. Catretd 77
U.S. 317, 322 (1986). “In ruling on a motion for summary judgment ‘[t]he district court must base
the determination regarding the presence or absence of a material issuialfdespute on
evidence that will be admissible at trial.Tuttle v. Lorillard Tobacco Cp377 F.3d 917, 923 (8th
Cir. 2004) (internal citations omitted). “Where the record taken as a whole coldddatrational
trier of fact to find for the noimoving party, there is no genuine issue for ftrialohnson Regional

Medical Ctr. v. Halterman867 F.3d 1013, 1016 (8th Cir. 2017) (quotMagtsushita Elec. Indus.

! The following employees are the 27 employees at issue in U.S. Pizza’s mopartifar
summary judgment: Teilia Akins, ChristiBargessHensley, Stephani@arter, James Christman,
Lashondra Click, Brittany CortleAndrea Coven, Tonya Farish, Jennifer Finnegan, Callie Gibson
(formerly Hill/Kelly), Darial Greer, Leigh Hamiltonférmerly Baber), Ashley Jones, Shannon
Kays, Donna Lackey, Jesse May, Amanda Menden, Erin Mosley, Michael NietoPdglips,
Rebekah Scott, Brittany Searcy, Tuesday Shelnutt, Darrell Spearman, Jeasms8&h, Audrey
Strack, and Lisa Yarbrough (Dkt. No. 32, { 13).
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Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp475 U.S. 574, 587 (1986)). A factual dispute is genuine évitgence

could cause a reasonable jury to return a verdict for either pislityer v. Local 373513 F.3d

854, 860 (8th Cir. 2008). “The mere existence of a factual dispute is insufficient alorre to ba
summary judgment; rather, the dispute must be owtadeterminative under the prevailing law.”
Holloway v. Pigman884 F.2d 365, 366 (8th Cir. 1989).

However, parties opposing a summary judgment motion may not rest merely upon the
allegations in their pleading8uford v. Tremayner47 F.2d 445, 447 (8th Cir. 1984). The initial
burden is on the moving party to demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of mdterial fac
Celotex Corp.477 U.S. at 323. The burden then shifts to the nonmoving party to establish that
there is a genuine issue to be deiaed at trial. Prudential Ins. Co. v. Hinkell21 F.3d 364, 366
(8th Cir. 2008)cert. denied522 U.S. 1048 (1998). “The evidence of the-nmvant is to be
believed, and all justifiable inferences are to be drawn in his favamderson v. Liberty Lddy,

Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 255 (1986).

[I1.  Motion For Partial Summary Judgment

U.S. Pizza moves for partial summary judgment, arguing that these 27 aoiéiins
are untimely and should be dismissed with prejudice (Dkt. No. 28, &. Pizza states that
during theLatchamcase Judge Miller ruled thafor the purposes of the FLSA a twear statute
of limitations applied to the sideork claimsand specifically denied the plaintiffs’ request for
postdecertification equitable tolling dhe optin plaintiffs’ statutes of limitations for the purpose
of refiling individual claims(ld., § 2). Accordingly, U.S. Pizza maintains that the statutes of
limitations for the claims of the dismissed-applaintiffs, including the 58 plaintiffs irhe present
action, began to run again on June 28, 20d.8 (U.S. Pizza argues that these 27 plaintiffs cannot

claim equitable tolling because they filed consents to joihabehamcollective action more than



two years after they last worked as senadra U.S. Pizza locationd(, § 5). U.S. Pizza argues
that these plaintiffs also failed to assert any claims under the AMWA withee tfears of last
working as a server at a U.S. Pizza locatidr).( Further, U.S. Pizza states that issue preclusion
bars these plaintiffs from litigating the issue of equitable tolling since that issudegaled in
Latcham(ld., 1 4).

In response, plaintiffs argue thtaey are entitled to pursue their FLSA claims for a period
of three years prior to the filing of their consents to joihatcham(Dkt. No. 33, at 4). Plaintiffs
assert that the equitable tolling that ttetchamcourt refused to apply was peadgcertification
tolling rather than prelecertification tolling id.). Accordingly, plaintiffs argughat any tolling
applicable to plaintiffs prior to the decertification orderLimstchamwas not disturbed by the
Latchamruling, meaning that plaintiffs continue to benefit from the tolling of th&iSA-based
claimsthat occurred between the filing of their individual consents to join and the dectatifica
order (d.). Further, plaintiffs argue that they are not bound by.ttehamcourt’s ruling that a
two-year statute of limitations applied since these plaintiffs were dismissed &tmmamas opt-
in plaintiffs by the time of that rulindd., at 6). Additionally, plaintiffs argue that they continue
to be entitled to pursue thetate law claimpursuanto the AMWA accruing in the three years
prior to the filing ofLatchamor at least three years prior to the filing of plaintiffs’ consent to join
in Latcham(ld., at 8). Plaintiffs argue that this Court should not dismiss th&VA\laims of
any plaintiffs whose last day of work for U.S. Pizza falls within the theaesyprior to the filing
of theLatchamcase oralternativelywithin the three years prior to the filing of plaintiffs’ conten

to join in theLatchamcase [d., at 910).



A. Legal Standard

The FLSA provides that claims for violations be “commenced within two years after the
cause of actioaccrued.”29 U.S.C. § 255(a)The statute of limitations is extended to three years
if the FLSA violation by the employer was willfuld. A cause ofctionis commenced when the
complaint is filed or, in a collective action, when the party files a written cotsdecome part
of the collective action29 U.S.C. § 25@&)-(b). For an opin plaintiff in a collective actionthe
FLSA explicitly measures the statute of limitations from the dathplaintiff joins the lawsuit
rather than the filing date of the initemplaint 29 U.S.C. § 256(bkee alscCollins v. Barney’s
Barn, Inc, No. 4:12CV00685 SWW, 2013 WL 1668984, at *6 (E.D. Ark. Apr. 17, 2013he
statute of limitations for a plaintiff in a collective action is tolled after the plaintiff had &le
consent to opt in to the collective action, and begins to run againdbthielater decertifies the
collective actiori. Green v. Harbor Freight Tools USA, In888 F. Supp. 2d 1088, 1106 (D. Kan.
2012) (citing 29 U.S.C. § 216(b)).

B. Statute Of Limitations Analysis

U.S. Pizzaarguesthat the Latchamcase confirms that avb-year statute of limitations
applies to plaintiffs’ side work claims (Dkt. No. 29, a8l U.S. Pizza statgdaintiffs’ consents
to join were filed more than two years after they last worked as servé&rsSidPizza making them
untimely under the apipable statute of limitations (Dkt. No. 28] $-6. Plaintiffs contend that
the holding inLatchamdoes not mandatiata twoyear statute of limitations applicableto
plaintiffs’ claims in this actiofecauselaintiffs were not parties to theatchamcase when Judge
Miller ruled on the issue of the applicable limitations period (Dkt. No. 33, at 1). Acctyding
plaintiffs contend that the only parties who may be dismissed at this stagelitiyi®on are

individuals whose last employment date was more than three years ptig fiting of the



Latchamcase(ld., at 22). The Court agrees with U.S. Pizza that Judge Miller found ayb&o
statute of limitations appropriate iratcham However,JudgeMiller’s postirial conclusion in
Latchamthat the tweyear statute of limitations governed those claims does not bind this Court at
this stage of the proceedings. These plaintiffs were not a pdratdbamat the time that Judge
Miller made that rulingso that ruling definitionally lacks preclusive effastto these plaintiffs
Further, as tohe merits of thipoint, U.S. Pizza has presented insufficieabrd evidencat this

stage of the proceedingsdemonstratéhe appropriateness thfe applcation ofa twoyearstatute

of limitations to plaintiffs’ FLSA claims As such, the Court cannot on summary judgment
determine that a twgear statute of limitations definitively applies to plaintiffs’ clairather than
thethreeyear statute of limitationthat applies to willful employer violation29 U.S.C. § 255(a).

The default statute of limitations for FLSA claims is two years, but the statute of limstation
extends to three years if the FLSA violation by the employer was willful. .890J 8§ 255(a).
Since bothH_atchamand the present case represent colleettdi®ns, the statute of limitations runs
from the date an individual plaintiff joins the lawsuit rather than the filing date ofripeal
underlying complaint.See29 U.S.C. § 256(b)¢ollins, 2013 WL 1668984, at *6Therefore, the
Court at this stagmay only dismiss those parties who filed a consent to join more than three years
after their last day of work as a server at U.S. RitE&. Pizzéhas providegblaintiffs’ responses
to requests for admissipplaintiffs’ consents to join for theatchamcase andthe dates each
plaintiff filed a consent to joifjDkt. Nos. 282; 28-3; 30, 1 13; 32, § )3 The Court reproduces

the salient dates in the below taBle:

2 The Court notes that.S. Pizzaprovided tle last day worked atl.S. Pizza and th
Latchamcorsent to join filing dates for the 27-msue plaintiffs in its statement of undisputed
material facts (Dkt. No. 30, { 13). Plaintiffs did not object to those dates in theanses to
statement of undisputed material facts (Dkt. No. 32, { I3)e Court accepts these dates as
accurateunless otherwise noted.



Employee Name Last Day Worked As Con_sz_ant ToJoin Filed Within

Server Filing Date ThreeYears?
Teilia Akins 12/27/2013 6/30/2017 No
Christina Burgess- 4/17/2014 7/7/2017 No

Hensley

Stephanie Carter 11/5/2014 8/22/2017 Yes
James Christman 4/24/2014 8/9/2017 No
Lashondra Click 9/27/2014 6/28/2017 Yes
Brittany Cordell 10/30/2014 6/28/2017 Yes
Andrea Coven 8/10/2014 6/30/2017 Yes
Tonya Farish 11/15/2013 6/28/2017 No
Jennifer Finnegan 1/25/2015 8/9/2017 Yes
Callie Gibson 11/27/2013 6/28/2017 No
Darial Greer 12/27/2013 6/30/2017 No
Leigh Hamilton 4/12/2014 6/28/2017 No
Ashley Jones 11/6/2014 6/28/2017 Yes
Shannon Kays 2/3/2015 8/4/2017 Yes
Donna Lackey 5/2/2015 9/18/2017 Yes
Jesse May 1/15/2014 6/28/2017 No
Amanda Menden 6/5/2014 9/15/2017 No
Erin Mosley 8/26/2014 7/13/2017 Yes
Michael Nieto 11/15/2014 7/17/2017 Yes
Jack Phillips 5/25/2014 7/13/2017 No
Rebekah Scott 1/16/2015 6/30/2017 Yes
Brittany Searcy 9/15/2014 7/14/2017 Yes
Tuesday Shelnutt 3/18/2014 7124/2017 No
Darrell Spearman 6/12/2015 8/4/2017 Yes
Joann Stevenson 3/18/2015 6/28/2017 Yes
Audrey Strack 7/14/2014 71712017 Yes
Lisa Yarbrough 1/28/2015 8/10/2017 Yes

3 Though Ms. Hamilton’dast day worked at U.S. Pizza wasigust 31, 2014, Ms.
Hamilton admits that her last day worked as a server atRiz3a was April 12, 2014 (Dkt. No.
28-2, at 23).

4 Though Mr. Spearman’s last day worked at U.S. Pizza was July 8, 2015, Mr. Spearman
admits that his last day worked as a server at U.S. Pizza was June 12, 2015 (Dk2 Nxb.425.
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Based on the Courti®view, the Court concludes that 16 of the 27 plaintiffs worked as a
server at U.S. Pizza within three years prior to filing a consent to jduatcham Those 16
plaintiffs are: Stephanie Carter, Lashondra Click, Brittany Cordell, Andrea Coven, dennif
Finnegan, Ashley Jones, Shannon Kays, Donna Lackey, Erin Mosley, Michael NietoalRebek
Scott, Brittany Searcy, Darrell Spearman, Joann Stevenson, Audrey Strddksa Yarbrough.
Based on undisputed record evidence, the remaining 11 plaifiif&A claims would be time
barred under either the tw@ar statute of limitations or the thrgear statute of limitations, and
the Courtcanappropriately dismisthose plaintifffrom this action. Those 11 plaintiffs aréeilia
Akins, ChristinaBurgessHensley JamesChristman,TonyaFarish,Callie Gibson, Darial Greer
Leigh Hamilton Jesse May, Amanda Menden, Jack Phillips, and Tuesday Shelnultt.

Accordingly, the Court grants U.S. Pizza’s motion for partial summary judgaee it
relates to these 11 plaifit whoseFLSA claims based on undisputed record evidemoa,ld be
time-barred undeeither a twoyear or thregear statute of limitations. Because the Court is
unable to conclude based on the record evidandeheparties filings that a tweyear statute of
limitations should apply tall claims in this actiojthe Court denies U.S. Pizza’s motion for partial
summary judgment insofas U.S. Pizza contentizatthe remaining 16 plaintiffs did not timely
file their consents to join ihatcham

C. Tolling Analysis

U.S. Pizza also claims that the issue of equitable tolling has already badaddm
Latchamandthatthe Court may not rule on this issue due to issue preclusion (Dkt. No. 28, T 4).
Plaintiffs confirm that Judge Miller found equitalbddling inappropriate i.atcham but plaintiffs
contend that theiFLSA claims are instead entitled to statutory tolling from the filing of their

consents to join ihatchamthrough the filing of the original complaint in this action (Dkt. No. 33,



at 45). Further plaintiffs argue that they their AMWA claims were tolled by the filing of the
original complaint in thd.atchamcase and that they remain entitled to pursue their state law
AMWA claims accruing in the three years prior to that filing (Dkt. B&).at 8). In other words,
plaintiffs argue that the statute of limitations for their AMWA claiimiéed upon the filing of the
original complaint inLatchamrather than upon each plaintiffs’ filing of an individual consent to
join (1d.). Under this construction, each plaintiff who worked for U.S. Pizza within thres gka
the filing of the complaint iLatchamwould have a timel AMWA claim against U.S. Pizza for
purposes of this partial motion for summary judgment. The original compldigtéhamwas

filed on August 12, 2016, meaning that all 27 plaintiffs would be able to pursueAMEWA
claims in a timely fashiop.

Per @ U.S.C. 8§ 216(b), each plaintiff's individual statute of limitatidos the FLSA
claimstolled upon the filing of a consent to join. Plaintiffs in this action appear to hadefde
consents to joithe collective action as early dsine 28, 207, and as late as Septemb&yr2017
(Dkt. No. 32, § 1B Thus, plaintiffs’ individual statutes of limitations for their FLSA claiwveye
tolled from the filing of their individual consents to join until the issuance of JudgerMill
decertification Order on June 28, 2019. However, those statutes of limitkdrotieir FLSA
claimswere tolled again by the filing of the original colapt in this action on June 29, 2019.
Accordingly, those statutes of limitations for their FLSA clamem®ain tolled during the pendency

of this litigation.

> As demonstrateth the tableincluded in this Opinion and Ordethe earliest last day
worked as a server among the plaintiffasMs. Farish’s final day of November 15, 2013 (Dkt.
No. 30, 1 13). This earliest date occurred within three years of the filing ofighealbcomplaint
in Latcham so all other plaintiffs’ final days worked at U.S. Pizza occurred within treaes\of
theLatchamcomplaint’s filing, as well.
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The Court does not see how Judge Miller's finding inappropnetstcertification
equitabe tolling regarding the side work clairbgds this Court at this stage of the proceedings.
In fact, Judge Miller’'s equitable tolling ruling has no bearing on this motion. clsis does not
provide an example of plaintiffs seeking pdstertificationtolling prior tore-filing their claims
or filing a new action. See, e.g.Scott v. Chipotle Mexican Grill, IncNo. 12CV-8333
(ALC)(SN), 2017 WL 1434498 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 19, 201 Qreen 888 F. Supp. 2d at104;
Eppenscheid v. DirectSat USA, LUgo. 09¢v-625-bbc, 2011 WL 13209268 (W.D. Wis. July 7,
2011). Plaintiffs do not seek equitable tollingthis action and they statthat they “have no need
for the postdecertification [equitable] tolling denied by theatchamcourt because no time was
lost between [p]laintiffs’ dismissal from theatchamcase and [this case’s] filing” (Dkt. No. 33,
at 5). Instead, plaintiffs seek the statutory tolling the FLSA provittes (See29U.S.C. § 216(b).
The statutory period was tolled from the date that each plaintiff filed his andieidiual consent
to join until Judge Miller’s June 28, 2018, Ordganted decertificatiaonSee LatchamnNo. 4:16
cv-00582BSM, Dkt. No. 84 Upon decertificationthe statute of limitations began to run again
SeeGreen 888 F. Supp. 2d at 12" Thestatute of limitations for a plaintiff in a collective action
is tolled after the plaintiff has filed a consent to opt in to the collectittera@nd begins to run
again if the court later decertifies the collective actigciting 29 U.S.C. § 216(p) It is true that
“[t]here is no language in the FLSA that provides for tolling the claims of fooptn plaintiffs
following the decertifiation of a collective action.Td. at 110506. However, paintiffs filed their
original complaint in this actiothe next dayn June 29, 201@kt. No. 1). Because oly one
day elapsed between Judge Miller's Order and the initiation o&gtisn each of the remaining
16 plaintiffs brought suit within the applicablstatutory period Therefore the Court cannot

conclude that U.S. Pizza has demonstrétatthe remaining 1@laintiffs’ claims are untimely
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Additionally, the Court does not see how plainti#&VMA claims would be tolled by the
filing of the complaint inLatchamrather than each plaintiffs’ individual filing of a consent to join
(Dkt. No. 33, at 8).In effect, plaintiffs argue that the original complaintLiatchamtolled the
statute of limitations since the original complaint asserted a Federal Rule of ©ngidBre 23
class for purposes of pursuing AMWA claindd.). The Supreme Court has held that “the statute
of limitations [is tolled] during the pendency of a putative [Rule 23] classmcibowing
unnamed class members to joint the action individually or file individual claims if tbe felids.”
China Agritech, Inc. v. Resh38 S. Ct. 1800, 1804 (2018) (citiAgn. Pipe & Const. Co. v. Utah
414 U.S. 538 (19%)). This tolling begins “when a [Rule 23] class action is commehc€down,

Cork & Seal Co., Inc. v. Parked62 U.S. 345, 352 (1983)Once the statute of limitations has
been tolled, it remains tolled for all members of the putative class until class ataotifics
denied.” Id. at 354.

However,plaintiffs misrepresentatchamby claiming that thé_atchamplaintiffs filed a
Rule 23 class action (Dkt. No. 33, atl8). For purposes of their federal claimbeLatcham
plaintiffs moved to certify the class pursuant to the FLSA instead of Rule 23 and pursued their
claims as an FLSA collective action (Dkt. No. 35, § 12¢e LatchanNo. 4:16ev-00582BSM,

Dkt. No. 10. “Rule 23 [class] actions are fundamentally different fromemiVe actions under

the FLSA,” andthe Court does not find that the rule tolling the statute of limitations for Rule 23
class actionsipplies equally té-LSA collective actions.Genesis Healthcare Corp. 8ymczyk

569 U.S. 66, 74 (2013) (citation omitle “Under Rule 23, each person within the description of
the classn a class actiors considered a class member and the judgment binds each class member
unless he or she has ‘opted out’ of the suiair v. Commc’ns Unlimited, IncNo. 4:17CV02391,

2019 WL 4695942, at *3 (E.D. Mo. Sept. 26, 20(ation omitted).UndertheFLSA, “a person

12



cannot become a party plaintiff and a judgment does not bind the individual unless he or she has
‘opted into’ the class by filing written consent.Id. (citation omitted). “Consequently, the
complainttolling rule of Rule 23 class actions does not apply in FLSA actiond.”(citing
Grayson v. K Mart Corp.79 F.3d 1086, 1106 (11th Cir. 1996)). Additionally, Judge Miller “did
not certify the action as a class action within the contemplation of [Rulea2®] “[w]ithout such
certification ad identification of the class, the action is not properly a class acti®axter v.
Palmigianqg 425 U.S. 308, 310 n.1 (1976) (citingdianapolis Sch. Comm’rs v. Jacod20 U.S.
128 (1975)). In short, plaintiffs are not entitled to the benefit of RBe tolling provisiongor
their federal claimbecause they filed an FLSA collective action against U.S. Piztahamwas
“not properly a class actighand plaintiffs’federal FLSA claimsre properly tolled from the date
plaintiffs filed their respctive consents to join rather than from the date of the original complaint’s
filing in Latcham

Further,even if thesd 1 plaintiffs’ AWMA claims were timely filed under Arkansas law
the Court has already found that their federal claims areliamed. Accordingly, the Court
would decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over these plaintiffs’ stateldans since
they have no remaining federal claims in this acti8ee28 U.S.C. § 1367.

V.  Conclusion

For the above reasons, the Court grants, in part, and denies, in part, U.S. Pizza’s motion
for partial summary judgmerfDkt. No. 28). The Court grants U.S. Pizza’s motiongdartial
summary judgment against tf@lowing 11 plaintiffs: Teilia Akins, Christina Burgesdensley,
James Christman, Tonya Farish, Callie Gibson, Darial Greer, Leigh Hardésse May, Amanda
Menden, Jack Phillips, and Tuesday Shelntithe Court dismisses from this action theke

plaintiffs, dismisses with prejudice their FLS#aimsassertedn this action dismisseswvithout
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prejudicetheir AMWA claims asserted in this action, and denies the relief they requ&sted

No. 23). The Court denies U.S. Pizza’s motiorpfantialsummary judgment against the following
16 plaintiffs Stephanie Q#er, Lashondra Click, Brittany Cordell, Andrea Coven, Jennifer
Finnegan, Ashley Jones, Shannon Kays, Donna Lackey, Erin Mosley, Michael NietoalRebek
Scott, Brittany Searcy, Darrell Spearman, Joann Stevenson, Audrey Strddksa Yarbrough
These 16laintiffs may proceed with their claimkl().

It is so ordered this 3rd day of January, 2020.

Koustne 4. Prder—
Krlstine G. Baker
United States District Judge
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